### FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/27/2024 8:00 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 8/27/2024 8:00 AM

COA No. 39659-2-III

Case #: 1034075

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CHARLES HAUSE, an individual, Petitioner,

**v.** 

SPOKANE COUNTY, a Washington Municipal Corporation, Respondent.

### **CHARLES HAUSE'S PETITION FOR REVIEW**

MAX K. ARCHER, WSBA No. 54081 RIVERSIDE NW LAW GROUP, PLLC 905 West Riverside Avenue, Suite 208 Spokane, Washington 99201 Phone: (509) 504-8714 <u>mka@rnwlg.com</u> Counsel for Petitioner Charles Hause

## **

### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Pursuant to Rule of Appellate Procedure (RAP) 13.4, Charles Hause respectfully petitions the Washington State Supreme Court for review of the decision of the Court of Appeals, Division III, more specifically identified in Section II below.

### **II. DECISION TO BE REVIEWED**

Mr. Hause is petitioning for review of Division III's decision terminating the review of his appeal as a matter of right. Division III filed its decision on July 25, 2024 in this above-captioned appeal. A copy of Division III's decision is attached to this petition as **Appendix A**. Neither party asked Division III to reconsider its decision.

### **III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

Mr. Hause seeks review of a single, discrete issue:

Does WISHA's<sup>1</sup> statutory and regulatory scheme establish a clear

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> As used herein, the acronym "WISHA" means the Washington Industrial Safety & Health Act, Chapter 49.17 RCW.

mandate of public policy prohibiting employers from retaliating against good faith reporters of workplace violence?

Division III addressed this very issue and concluded—as a matter of first impression—that it does not. In support of its conclusion, Division III declared for the first time that (i) "workplace violence does **not** fall under the rubric of WISHA" and (ii) "WISHA rules do **not** mention workplace violence." App. A, pgs. 20, 28 (emphasis added).

Division III's decision removes matters of workplace violence prevention from the purview of WISHA and its regulatory bodies, L&I<sup>2</sup> and DOSH.<sup>3</sup> Mr. Hause respectfully submits this decision is erroneous and unsupported by WISHA's text and legislative intent. He further submits that the decision ignores and, in fact, abrogates a decades' worth of materials published by L&I and DOSH.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> As used herein, the acronym "L&I" refers exclusively to the Washington State Department of Labor & Industries.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> As used herein, the acronym "DOSH" refers exclusively to L&I's Division of Occupational Safety & Health.

The issue presented for review invokes the public's substantial interest in preventing, investigating, and responding to workplace violence. The issue presented impacts each and every employer, employee, and workplace in the state of Washington. Indeed, the issue directly impacts the job security and mental, emotional, and physical safety of over 4,000,000 citizens working in the state of Washington.<sup>4</sup>

Review of this issue is thus appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(4), which permits the Washington State Supreme Court to review any issues "of substantial public interest."

### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. THE TRIAL COURT GRANTED RECONSIDERATION OF ITS PRIOR ORDER DENYING SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

The relevant portion of this case reached Division III after Mr. Hause appealed the Trial Court's order granting Respondent Spokane County's Motion for Reconsideration (the "Reconsideration Order"). CP 664, 790-92. In the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> According to the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, Washington State's civilian labor force consisted of an estimated 4,017,400 individuals in July 2024 (https://www.bls.gov/eag/eag.wa.htm).

Reconsideration Order, the Trial Court declared it'd "change[d] its mind" and decided to reverse and vacate its prior order denying the summary judgment dismissal of Mr. Hause's wrongful discharge in violation of public policy claim. *Id.*; *see also* CP 652-59. The Trial Court-level briefing relevant to Mr. Hause's appeal of the summary dismissal of his wrongful discharge claim is thus found within the reconsideration briefing, not the summary judgment briefing.<sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Division III decided—in no uncertain terms—the merits of the issue Mr. Hause petitions this Court to review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). See, e.g., App. A, pgs. 21, 28. However, before doing so, Division III explained Mr. Hause failed to preserve his WISHA-related arguments for appeal because he did not brief them to the Trial Court. See, e.g., App. A, pgs. 21, 28. Respectfully, Division III is incorrect. Mr. Hause spent 100 pages briefing the Trial Court on the very same WISHApromulgated WACs, WISHA statutes, and L&I/DOSH interpretations that he relies upon on appeal. See, e.g., CP 682-782. This briefing occurred in response to the County's Motion for Reconsideration. Id. Mr. Hause successfully defeated the County's summary judgment motion to dismiss the wrongful discharge claim. He lost on reconsideration-not on the original summary judgment briefing. Thus, Mr. Hause successfully preserved his WISHA arguments for appeal. The Trial Court reviewed the briefing on these matters before it

## B. DIVISION III HELD—AS A MATTER OF FIRST IMPRESSION—THAT WORKPLACE VIOLENCE IS OUTSIDE THE SCOPE OF WISHA AND THUS, OUTSIDE THE JURISDICTION OF L&I AND DOSH.

Mr. Hause's wrongful discharge claim is and was

predicated on the allegation that Washington State recognizes a

clear mandate of public policy prohibiting employers

from retaliating against good faith reporters of workplace

violence. See, e.g., CP 655-56. Because clear mandates of

public policy may arise from statutory or regulatory schemes,

Mr. Hause rested his claim on WISHA statutes and regulations.

CP 655-56, 688-93; Gardner v. Loomis Armored, Inc., 128

issued its Reconsideration Order and granted summary judgment on the wrongful discharge claim.

Because Division III ruled on the merits of the issue Mr. Hause petitions this Court to review, Mr. Hause did not assign independent error to this aspect of Division III's decision. To the extent it's necessary, Mr. Hause respectfully uses this footnote to assign error to Division III's conclusion that he waived his WISHA-related arguments. Division III erred in this regard for the very reasons provided herein. Mr. Hause briefed the issue extensively and the County responded in its reply materials. All of this briefing occurred **before** the Trial Court granted the Motion for Reconsideration and dismissed the wrongful discharge claim. Wn.2d 931, 940-41 (1996); *Sedlacek v. Hillis*, 145 Wn.2d 379, 388-89 (2001). The specific WISHA statutes and regulations
cited by Mr. Hause are briefed the Argument Section below.

Mr. Hause devoted the majority of his 100-pages-worth of briefing in opposition to the County's Motion for Reconsideration to WISHA statutes and regulations. *See, e.g.*, CP 682-782. These same WISHA statutes and regulations dominated Mr. Hause's briefing on appeal as well. *See generally Appellant's Reply Br*. Division III nevertheless held—for the first time—that:

> WISHA cannot establish the clear mandate of public policy Hause claims it does. <u>Workplace violence</u> does not fall under the rubric of <u>WISHA</u>.

App. A, pg. 28 (emphasis added). Because the issue is one of first impression for the courts, it's not surprising that Division III's holding was unaccompanied by citations to supporting precedent. *See generally id.* What is surprising, however, is the lack of analysis and attention Division III's decision affords to consequences of its newly announced rule. *Id.* Division III's decisions neither explains the rationale behind nor articulates any countervailing policy considerations justifying the chilling effect the newly announced rule will have on good faith reporters of workplace violence. *Id.* Division III's decision also does not offer an explanation as to why L&I and DOSH's long-standing interpretation of WISHA deserves total abrogation instead of the usual administrative deference. *Id.* L&I and DOSH's position on the matter is briefed in detail in Section B(2) of the Argument Section below.

Indeed, there is only one other instance in which Division III's 38-page decision discusses the relationship between workplace violence and WISHA. *See generally id.* Division III writes on page 21 of its decision:

> "WISHA rules do not mention workplace violence."

App. A, pg. 21 (emphasis added).

## C. DIVISION III'S DECISION DEPRIVES MR. HAUSE HIS DAY IN COURT AND CO-SIGNS THE TERMINATION OF HIS EMPLOYMENT, WHICH BEGAN SHORTLY AFTER HE SUBMITTED A WORKPLACE VIOLENCE COMPLAINT.

The County hired Mr. Hause in January 2012 as a Forensic Technician. CP 499. In June 2016, the County promoted Mr. Hause to a Forensic Specialist. CP 327. Mr. Hause enjoyed a sterling reputation; he was considered by management and peers alike to be a tremendously productive team member with exceptional kindness and interpersonal communication skills. See, e.g., CP 321-22, 328-348. The County's then-Sheriff Ozzie Knezovich awarded Mr. Hause the coveted Medal of Merit on January 18, 2020, and over the years, Mr. Hause's two immediate supervisors raved about him in his annual performance evaluations. CP 328-48. Mr. Hause's employee file includes several comments from supervisors about his "courte[ous]," "professional[]," "perce[petive]," and "team player" nature. CP 329-48. Mr. Hause's peers likewise

testified at the Trial Court-level to Mr. Hause's imminently kind, productive, and professional disposition. CP 538-67.

It wasn't until shortly after Mr. Hause drafted and submitted a Workplace Violence Complaint against a favorited, coddled co-worker, Trayce Boniecki, that the County began characterizing Mr. Hause as a lying trouble-maker. CP 410-12. Mr. Hause's Workplace Violence Complaint addressed two specific issues. *Id*.

First, Mr. Hause complained about a prior violent outburst in which Ms. Boniecki screamed profanities at a coworker and hurled a water bottle across toward co-workers seated across from her in the County Forensic Unit's open workspace. *Id.* And second, Mr. Hause complained he felt compelled to submit his Workplace Violence Complaint to the County's Office of Risk Management because management within the Sheriff's Office was woefully failing to provide a safe and secure workplace for those in its Forensic Unit. *Id.*  Notwithstanding County policy and Mr. Hause's request otherwise, the Office of Risk Management sent the Workplace Violence Complaint directly to the Sheriff's Office and asked its management to investigate themselves and Ms. Boniecki. CP 320, 408-12, 426-27, 513-14, 530, 532-34. The Sheriff's Office then instructed Lt. Khristopher Thompson, a gentlemen who testified that, **prior to his deposition**.

> (i) He was not "familiar" with the County's Workplace Violence Policy;

(ii) He had never read the County's Workplace Violence Policy;

(iii) He did not know if any of the supervisors in the Forensic Unit (i.e., his direct subordinates) were aware of their obligations to create a safe work environment pursuant to the Workplace Violence Policy; and

(iv) He did not know if any of the supervisors in the Forensic Unit (who are, again, his direct subordinates) were following their obligation to create a safe work

# environment pursuant to the Workplace Violence Policy.

CP 312, 314 (emphasis added). Having read the Workplace

Violence Policy for the first time at his deposition, Lt.

Thompson suddenly found merit to Mr. Hause's Workplace

Violence Complaint:

Q. But my question was whether or not you think what Miss Boniecki did with respect to the water bottle incident falls within this definition as you sit here today?

A. Yes.

Q. You do?

A. I believe it was, yes . . . My interpretation of it [the Workplace Violence Policy] would be that she violated [the] policy in this aspect and it was addressed.

CP 313 (emphasis added).

Lt. Thompson nevertheless concluded his investigation

with the finding that Mr. Hause's Workplace Violence

Complaint was not only baseless but intended to harass Ms.

Boniecki. CP 313, 412-21, 475-76, 496-98. Indeed, <u>two days</u> <u>later</u>, the Sheriff's Office commenced its own investigation into Mr. Hause for allegedly (i) making false and misleading statements in his Workplace Violence Complaint, (ii) "harassing" Ms. Boniecki and (iii) failing to report his Workplace Violence Complaint to the appropriate individuals. CP 475-76, 496-98; *see also* CP 199-208, 502-05.

Mr. Hause's Opening Brief details specific examples of the County's disparate treatment of Ms. Boniecki—who the men in the Sheriff's Office fiercely protected—and Mr. Hause—who the men in the Sheriff's Office resented for filing a complaint. *See, e.g., Appellant's Opening Br.*, pgs. 26-31; *see also* CP 129-31, 373, 488-89, 496-98, 502-06, 508, 562, 593-94, 641-51. Suffice it to say for purposes of this Petition for Review, the investigation launched against Mr. Hause after receiving his Workplace Violence Complaint ended with the termination of Mr. Hause's employment. CP 493-94, 503.

### V. ARGUMENT

## A. THIS PETITION INVOLVES A MATTER OF FIRST IMPRESSION—THE OUTCOME OF WHICH IMPACTS THE SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST.

RCW 49.17.160(1) is WISHA's anti-retaliation statute i.e., it prohibits employers from taking adverse employment actions against employees who, in good faith, report unsafe work environments. Division III's is the first court decision to address whether good faith reporters of workplace violence are protected by WISHA's anti-retaliation statute (RCW 49.17.160). App. A, pgs. 21, 28. Mr. Hause respectfully submits that Division III erroneously resolved this issue to the detriment not only of himself but to the 4,000,000 members of Washington's workforce.<sup>6</sup>

Among others, the following WISHA statutes and regulations support Mr. Hause's position that workplace

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Please see Footnote 5 above regarding Division III's erroneously conclusion that Mr. Hause failed to brief and preserve his WISHA-related arguments.

violence is covered by the protections afforded to Washington State workers:

 Statutes

 RCW 49.17.010

 RCW 49.17.060

 RCW 49.17.060

 RCW 49.17.160

 WAC 296-800-110

 WAC 296-800-11005

 WAC 296-800-11010

 WAC 296-800-11015

 WAC 296-800-11035

 WAC 296-800-12005

As indicated in CPs 682-782 and in Footnotes 5 and 6 herein, Mr. Hause briefed each of these foregoing authorities to the Trial Court and to Division III. *Appellant's Opening Br.*, pg. 44-45; *Appellant's Reply Br.*, pg. 3-4. Division III's decision is flatly incorrect when it states otherwise. See, e.g., App. A, pg.

21.

Of specific importance to the existence of the first public policy advanced is RCW 49.17.010, wherein the Washington State Legislature (the "Legislature") declared:

> It is in the <u>public interest</u> for the welfare of the people of the state of Washington ... to assure, insofar as may reasonably be possible, safe and healthful working conditions for every man and woman working in the state of Washington.

*Id.* (emphasis added). WAC 296-800-100, which was promulgated by L&I pursuant to WISHA, likewise characterizes WISHA's enactment as a legislative "requir[ement] that employers [] provide safe and healthful workplaces for all employees." *Id.* To that end, RCW 49.17.060 requires "[e]ach employer . . . [to] furnish each of his or her employees a place of employment free from recognized hazards that are causing or likely to cause serious injury or death to his or her employees." Further, as noted above, WISHA's anti-retaliation

statutes provides:

No person shall discharge or in any manner discriminate against any employee because such employee has filed any complaint or instituted or caused to be instituted any proceeding under or related to this chapter, or has testified or is about to testify in any such proceeding or because of the exercise by such employee on behalf of himself or herself or others of any right afforded by this chapter.

RCW 49.17.160(1) (emphasis added). The plain language of this statute protects and serves the public's interest in enjoying safe and healthy workplaces by prohibiting employers from retaliating against good faith reporters of workplace violence.

Id.

Given the important public interest it serves, this antiretaliation statute alone is sufficient to satisfy the Perritt Test's clarity element. *See, e.g., Ellis v. City of Seattle*, 142 Wn.2d 452, 459-60 (2000) (holding the clarity element of the Perritt Test by citing WISHA); *Ng-A-Qui v. Fluke Corp.*, 2023 WL 195250, \*5 (2023) (holding the plaintiff established a "wrongful discharge claim . . . based on public policy as established by WISHA").

The public policy advanced by Mr. Hause, however, finds further support in Chapter 298-800 WAC, the regulatory scheme administered and enforced by L&I and DOSH pursuant to WISHA. *Accord* RCW 49.17.040, .050. These regulations require private and public employers in this state:

- (i) "[T]o provide a safe and healthy workplace free from recognized hazards,"<sup>7</sup> WAC 296-800-110,
- (ii) "[T]o provide . . . employees a workplace free from recognized hazards<sup>8</sup> that are causing, or are

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> "A hazard is recognized if it is commonly known in the employer's industry, or if there is evidence that the employer knew or should have known of the existence of the hazard, or if it can be established that any reasonable person would have recognized the hazard." WAC 296-800-11005. <sup>8</sup> See Footnote 7 of this Petition for the definition of "recognized hazards."

likely to cause, serious injury or death," WAC 296-800-11005,

- (iii) "[To] provide and use safety devices, safeguards, and use work practices, methods, processes, and means that are reasonably adequate to make . . . [the] workplace safe," WAC 296-800-11010,
- (iv) To refrain from "interfere[ing] with [its employees'] use of any method or process adopted for the protection of any employee," *Id.* at (3),
- (v) To "do everything reasonably necessary to protect the life and ... employees," *Id.* at (4),
- (vi) To "prohibit employees from entering, or being in, any workplace that is not safe,"
   WAC 296-800-11015, and
- (vii) To "establish, supervise, and enforce rules that lead to a safe and healthy work environment that are effective in practice," WAC 296-800-11035.

Private and public employees, on the other hand, are required to:

- (i) "[P]lay an active role in creating a safe and healthy workplace and comply with all applicable safety and health rules," WAC 296-800-120,
- (ii) "[C]oordinate and cooperate with all other employees in the workplace to try and eliminate on-the-job injuries and illnesses," WAC 296-800-12005(3), and
- (iii) "[To] . . . [d]o everything reasonably necessary to protect the life and safety of employees," *Id.* at (1●).

Like RCW 49.17.160, WAC 296-800-120 promotes the public

interests served by Chapter 296-800 WAC by prohibiting

retaliation against good faith reporters:

**Employees** discuss may and participate in any WISHA safety and health related practice and may refuse to perform dangerous tasks without fear of discrimination. Discrimination includes: Dismissal. demotion, loss of seniority, denial of a promotion, harassment, etc. (see chapter 296-360 WAC, **Discrimination**) pursuant to **RCW** 49.17.160 for a complete description

of discrimination and the department's responsibility to protect employees.

WAC 296-800-120 (emphasis added).

### B. L&I AND DOSH HAVE INTERPRETED WISHA AS PROTECTING WORKERS FROM WORKPLACE VIOLENCE FOR OVER 10 YEARS.

Notwithstanding the foregoing WACs and RCWs,

Division III and the Trial Court accepted and adopted the County's argument that incidents of workplace violence are carved out of WISHA and L&I's domain. *See, e.g., Resp. Opening Br.*, pg. 53; App. A, pgs. 21, 28. Though Division III did not elaborate on its decision, the County justified its position by arguing extending WISHA's protections to workplace violence will "encourag[e]" employees to "report[] . ... workplace safety issues in an extremely broad sense that encompasses even workplace violence." *Resp. Opening Br.*, pgs. 54-5. But, for the reasons provided below and in his Trial Court- and Division III-briefing (see CP 682-782 and Footnotes 5 and 6 herein), Mr. Hause submits that this is, in fact, the precise outcome the Legislative intended when it enacted WISHA. See, e.g., RCW 49.17.010.

# 1. WISHA's Plain Text Covers Matters of Workplace Violence Prevention.

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