FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/26/2024 10:01 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 1034075

Court of Appeals, Division III No. 396592

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CHARLES HAUSE, an individual,

Petitioner,

v.

SPOKANE COUNTY, a Washington Municipal Corporation,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

JOHN R. NICHOLSON, WSBA #30499 Jackson & Nicholson, PLLC 900 SW 16th Street, Suite 215 Renton, WA 98057 (206) 582-6001 Attorney for Respondent Spokane County

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

The County's investigators interviewed Mr. Hause twice during its internal investigation into his conduct. CP 176. They determined he made false or misleading statements and was evasive. CP 204-08. Some of the false or misleading statements related to what communications he had with coworkers about Ms. Boniecki while she was under investigation. CP 204-05.

Mr. Hause had engaged in many disparaging text messages with coworker John Schlosser about Ms. Boniecki related to her being under investigation and on administrative leave. CP 133-43. In his first interview, Mr. Hause stated he had only spoken to Mr. Schlosser once on the phone about Ms. Boniecki, even though he still had the texts with Mr. Schlosser in his possession. CP 205. The investigators later learned of the texts from Mr. Schlosser, who clearly remembered them although he, unlike Mr. Hause, had not retained them. CP 206. When confronted with this fact during his second interview, Mr. Hause admitted the texts existed and even reviewed them during the interview itself, but he still declined to allow the investigators to see them and continued to be deceptive. CP 206.

The text messages finally had to be produced in discovery. In them, Mr. Hause referred to Ms. Boniecki as a "sociopath," insulted her work ethic, and expressed disdain for anyone at work whom he believed was aligned with her, going

so far as to call the Undersheriff a "spineless coward." CP 139-40. Most disturbingly, after conceding he had been "dying to tell" Mr. Schlosser about the internal investigation into Ms. Boniecki, Mr. Hause texted the following statement, providing a glimpse into his plans to continue harassing her and those he perceived as supporting her after he returned to work from a period of leave:

[W]hen I get back, I'm coming hard after them. I made their life pretty miserable for my last 2 weeks there, and it's only going to get worse for them on my return.

CP 138.

In addition to less serious policy violations, the Sheriff concluded Mr. Hause had made false or misleading statements in his complaint and during the investigation, resulting in his termination after a *Loudermill* hearing. CP 178-78, 210-17. Mr. Hause subsequently brought this lawsuit. CP 75-82.

Mr. Hause's Amended Complaint asserted four claims:

(1) retaliation under the Washington Law Against

Discrimination ("WLAD"), RCW 49.60; (2) whistleblower retaliation; (3) retaliation for engaging in union practices under RCW 51.56; and (4) wrongful termination in violation of public policy. CP 80. While the Complaint referenced several different statutes as bases for liability, it made no mention of WISHA nor any of its regulations. CP 75-82.

The County moved for summary judgment, arguing Mr. Hause could not establish any *prima facie* claim, and that even if he could, Mr. Hause's false or misleading statements were a legitimate non-retaliatory reason for his termination. CP 260-80. In Mr. Hause's summary judgment opposition, he claimed numerous statutes and internal County policies supported his claim, but he never once cited WISHA or any of its regulations. CP 283-305, 606-12. On February 9, 2023, the trial court granted the County's summary judgment motion in part, dismissing the first three claims but denying the motion as to Mr. Hause's wrongful termination claim. CP 657-59. The Court stated it denied summary judgment on this claim based on the

County's internal workplace violence and whistleblowing policies. CP 656.

The County filed a timely motion for reconsideration. CP 664-78. On April 5, 2023, the trial court granted the County's motion for reconsideration and dismissed Mr. Hause's remaining wrongful termination claim. 793-95. The Court explained that the County's internal policies, which were the basis of its earlier decision, did not give rise to a clear mandate of public policy and Mr. Hause had not shown he engaged in conduct furthering any such policy. CP 790-92.

On July 25, 2024, after Mr. Hause appealed the dismissal of his case, Division III issued an unpublished opinion affirming summary judgment in favor of the County. Mr. Hause filed his petition for review with an effective filing date of August 27, 2024, rendering it untimely by one day. Pending along with this petition for review is Mr. Hause's motion for an extension of time to excuse the untimely filing.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The County chiefly requests that the Court deny Mr. Hause's petition for review, both because it is untimely and because it does not satisfy RAP 13.4(b). However, should the Court accept review of the single issue raised by Mr. Hause, it should also review the following related issues, which were raised by the County but not decided by the Court of Appeals insofar as it affirmed summary judgment without reaching them:

- 1. Whether summary judgment on Mr. Hause's wrongful discharge claim should be affirmed because he did not show the discharge may have been motivated by reasons that contravene any clear mandate of public policy nor that he engaged in any public-policy-linked conduct that was a significant factor in the decision to discharge him?
- 2. Alternatively, whether summary judgment on Mr. Hause's wrongful discharge claim should be affirmed, because he did not establish the jeopardy or causation elements under the Perrit test formulation of the tort?
- 3. Alternatively, whether summary judgment on Mr. Hause's wrongful discharge claim should be affirmed, because the County had a legitimate non-pretextual reason and/or overriding justification for the discharge?

See RAP 13.4(a). These issues should be included in any further appellate review, because they are alternative grounds for upholding summary judgment. See Washburn v. City of Federal Way, 178 Wn.2d 732, 753 fn. 9, 310 P.3d 1275 (2013).

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Mr. Hause's Petition for Review Should Be Denied

As a preliminary matter, Mr. Hause's petition is untimely. Setting aside its untimeliness, the petition focuses on whether the public policy of WISHA includes remediating workplace violence, which is an issue the Court of Appeals determined he did not preserve for review. Neither the question of whether Mr. Hause preserved the issue for review nor the Court of Appeals' limited discussion of WISHA in dicta satisfies the criteria of RAP 13.4(b).

1. Mr. Hause Does Not Satisfy the Criteria for Review Under RAP 13.4(b)

¹ If the Court denies Mr. Hause's pending motion for an extension of time, the petition should be denied as untimely without reaching any of his arguments.

In a footnote, Mr. Hause concedes the Court of Appeals held he failed to preserve his WISHA-related arguments by not sufficiently raising them in the trial court. *Petition* at 4, fn. 5. Mr. Hause then goes on in the footnote to "assign error" to this conclusion, disputing the Court of Appeals' view of the trial court record. *Petition* at 5, fn.5.

Whether a claimed error was sufficiently preserved below to appropriately raise on appeal is a matter within the appellate court's discretion. *See State v. Russell*, 171 Wn.2d 118, 122, 249 P.3d 604 (2011); *State v. Lazcano*, 188 Wn. App. 338, 354 P.3d 233 (2015) ("We may decline to consider an issue that was inadequately argued below."); RAP 2.5(a). Importantly, to assert a wrongful discharge claim, it is an employee's burden to "plead and prove that a stated public policy, either legislatively or judicially recognized, may have been contravened." *Thompson v. St. Regis Paper Co.*, 102 Wn.2d 219, 232, 685 P.2d 1081 (1984) (emphasis added). "Pleadings" consist of the parties' complaints and answers,

which set forth their legal contentions. CR 7(a). Mr. Hause's Amended Complaint contained no reference to WISHA or its regulations whatsoever. Rather, the only statutes it mentioned as supporting his claims were RCW 49.60, RCW 42.20, and RCW 41.56. CP 75-82; *See* App. A. Mr. Hause has now abandoned those statutes and contends the Court should instead allow him to proceed on a theory never pleaded.

Mr. Hause also did not cite WISHA in his response to the County's summary judgment motion. CP 283-305; *See* App. B. Mr. Hause's claim that he spent "100 pages-worth of briefing" on his WISHA theory in response to the County's motion for reconsideration is disingenuous. *Petition* at 6. In his fifteen-page opposition to the County's motion for reconsideration, he still clung to his unsuccessful theories that whistleblower statutes (RCW 42.40 and RCW 42.41) and the County's internal policies created a mandate of public policy. CP 682-97; *See* App. C. Mr. House did cite, for the first time, some provisions of WISHA and its regulations, claiming they

"establish[ed] yet another basis" for his claims, although he had not pleaded the statute nor ever previously raised it in the litigation. CP 693. Given all of this, the Court of Appeals' determination that Mr. Hause did not sufficiently argue WISHA to preserve the issue for review was proper.

Equally important, Mr. Hause's putative "assignment of error" to the Court of Appeals' determination that he did not preserve an issue for appeal does not satisfy the criteria for review he has invoked. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(4). This Court is not an "error-correcting" court and certainly is not here to resolve disputes about the trial court record. *See generally* RAP 13.1(a), 13.4(b). Consequently, even without reaching the merits, Mr. Hause's petition should be denied.

This is not a case that "involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(4). To begin with, the Court of Appeals' decision is unpublished and therefore has "no precedential value" and is "not binding on any court." GR 14.1. Mr. Hause's

hyperbole that the sky is falling due to the Court of Appeals' brief discussion of WISHA is unfounded.

This is especially so, given the Court of Appeals decided Mr. Hause did not preserve the issue. Since it found the error was not preserved, its discussion of whether public policy reflected in WISHA includes remediating workplace violence is dicta that was unnecessary to its decision. See, e.g., Ruse v. Dept. of Labor & Industries, 138 Wn.2d 1, 8-9, 977 P.2d 570 (1999) (affirming Court of Appeals where challenged language was dicta). "Dicta is not binding authority." Protect the Peninsula's Future v. City of Port Angeles, 175 Wn. App. 201, 215, 304 P.3d 914 (2013).

2. Although Dicta, the Court of Appeals' Discussion of WISHA Was Correct

Even if this Court overlooks that the Court of Appeals' discussion of WISHA was dicta, its analysis was correct. Mr. Hause inaccurately claims the decision below conflicts with an "administrative precedent" of the Department that WISHA

requires remediation of workplace violence in the context of this case. But the only materials Mr. Hause has offered showing the Department interprets workplace violence to be within the ambit of WISHA are an internal staff directive, which was never brought to the attention of the trial court or the Court of Appeals,² and an informational pamphlet, which the agency describes as a "guidebook." The directive merely provides "guidance to Department staff on the appropriate application of WISHA standards in workplaces where there is an increased risk of violent incidents" and reflects the agency merely allowed for the possibility that certain WISHA regulations "may apply to the hazards of violence in the workplace . . ." Petition, App. B. at 2 (emphasis added). It also clarifies, "Voluntary workplace violence guidelines issued by L&I may not be used as a basis for citation, nor may such guidelines be used to demonstrate an employer's knowledge of a hazard for enforcement purposes." *Id.* at 6.

² Petition, App. B.

³ Petition, App. C.

The guidebook expressly recognizes Washington law only requires "workplace violence prevention programs in health care settings, psychiatric hospitals and late-night retail establishments, like convenience stores." *Petition*, App. C. at 1. Appendix E to the guidebook cites laws and regulations governing workplace violence programs in these settings, which do not apply here. Id. at Appendix E:8. Like the staff directive, it lists "other L&I regulations that may apply to workplace violence hazards," carefully not making any determination about whether they actually do. Id. at E:9 (emphasis added). The guidelines nonetheless encourage all employers to take steps to eliminate workplace violence and offer a sample prevention program that can be adopted by any employer on a voluntary basis. *Id*.

The court gives some deference to an administrative agency's interpretation of its own regulations in a judicial review proceeding, unless "there is a compelling indication that the agency's regulatory interpretation conflicts with the

legislature's intent or exceeds the agency's authority." *Samson* v. *City of Bainbridge Island*, 149 Wn. App. 33, 43, 202 P.3d 334 (2009). But the staff directive and guidebook are not regulations, and they therefore do not have the force of law. *Carranza v. Dovex Fruit Co.*, 190 Wn.2d 612, 624-25, 416 P.3d 1205 (2018).

Besides, the Court of Appeals' opinion does not conflict with either the Department's staff directive or its guidebook. At most, the Department has raised the specter in these documents that certain WISHA regulations "may apply" to workplace violence hazards, without taking any definitive position. The agency's recognition that Washington law only expressly addresses workplace violence in other unrelated settings is correct. Neither WISHA nor any of the regulations cited by Mr. Hause mention workplace violence, and none of the wrongful

discharge cases that rely on public policies demonstrated by WISHA have involved workplace violence.⁴

While the legislature has enacted a law specifically addressing and defining workplace violence, RCW 49.19, *et. seq.*, that law is limited to health care settings.⁵ As noted in the Department's guidebook, there are other laws which also mandate specific actions by late night retail businesses and facilities for the mentally ill that have the purpose of preventing violence to employees, but these laws likewise have no application to the County. *Petition*, App. C at Appendix E (citing RCW 72.23.400 and WAC 296-832).

"Under *expressio unius est exclusion alterius*, a canon of statutory construction, to express one thing in a statute implies

⁴ See, e.g., Ellis, 142 Wn.2d at 453-57 (involving problems with Key Arena fire alarm system); Ng-A-Qui v. Fluke Corp., 25 Wn.App.2d 1017, 2023 WL 195250, *1 (Wash. App. Jan. 17, 2023) (involving health and safety specialist reporting workplace safety hazards); Wilson v. City of Monroe, 88 Wn. App. 113, 116, 943 P.2d 1134 (1997) (involving complaints about employer's illegal discharge into Skykomish River).

⁵ "Workplace violence," "violence," or "violent act" means any physical assault or verbal threat of physical assault against an employee of a health care setting on the property of the health care setting. "Workplace violence," "violence," or "violent act" includes any physical assault or verbal threat of physical assault involving the use of a weapon, including a firearm as defined in RCW 9.41.010, or a common object used as a weapon, regardless of whether the use of a weapon resulted in an injury." RCW 49.19.010(4).

the exclusion of the other." In re Detention of Williams, 147 Wn.2d 476, 491, 55 P.3d 597 (2002). "It is well settled where the legislature uses certain language in one instance but different, dissimilar language in another, a difference in legislative intent is presumed." Woodbury v. City of Seattle, 172 Wn. App. 747, 753, 292 P.3d 134 (2013). Had the legislature intended to regulate workplace violence in all employment settings, it would not have limited the reach of RCW 49.19. Further, even if RCW 49.19 were held to establish a clear mandate of public policy in the context of non-health care settings, Ms. Boniecki's act of throwing an empty plastic spray bottle at a cabinet would not constitute "workplace violence" as the legislature has defined it. She did not physically assault anyone or threaten assault.

B. If This Court Accepts Review of the Issue Identified By Mr. Hause, It Should Also Accept Review of Other Issues Raised By the County that Would Result in Affirming the Trial Court on Alternative Grounds In both the trial court and Court of Appeals, the County argued multiple grounds in support of its motion for summary judgment. Should the Court accept review and agree with Mr. Hause's arguments about the scope of the public policy under WISHA, it should nevertheless affirm summary judgment in favor of the County, because Mr. Hause did not establish the remaining elements of the tort.

1. Mr. Hause's Conduct Did Not Further Any Public Policy Reflected by WISHA

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